FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/27/2024 8:36 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case #: 1032072

#### IN SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## MORGAN AIKEN, III

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

v.

#### ROCIO SANCHEZ AND MARTA BECERRIA

Defendants-Respondent-Respondent

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING

The Honorable Judge Ruhl

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS MAY 28, 2024 DECISION IN 84115-7-I

LEGAL WELLSPRING, PS 2367 Tacoma Ave. S Tacoma, WA 98402 206-960-3430 Erin@LegalWellspring.com

# Cases

Aiken v. Sanchez, No. 841115-7-I, Slip Opinion (May 28, 2024)
All Star Gas, Inc., of Wash. v. Bechard, 100 Wn. App. 732, 740,

#### I. IDENTITY OF THE MOVING PARTY

Petitioner, Morgan Aiken, III, through his attorney of record, Erin C. Sperger, moves this Court for the relief designated in Part II of this petition.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner requests review of the Court of Appeals' May 28, 2024 decision, which is attached as Appendix A.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Is a litigant who experiences racial bias in a dispositive proceeding required to raise the issue to the trial court before he or she can raise the issue on appeal?
- B. In viewing the totality of the circumstances in this case could an objective observer who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdict in Washington State could view race as a factor in the [outcome]?

C. Did Aiken have a reasonable basis for his claims for civil conspiracy and breach of the implied covenant of quiet use and enjoyment?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant facts to this petition are set forth in Appellants' opening brief and are incorporated by reference herein. In addition, the following facts are relevant:

When Morgan Aiken, a Black male tenant, appealed to the trial court to stop his property manager and neighbor from harassing him and conspiring to evict him without just cause, the trial court: (1) prohibited Aiken from obtaining the evidence he needed through discovery; (2) allowed the defendants to move forward with dismissal even though Aiken brought a motion to compel after Sanchez refused to participate in discovery, and requested a continuance to obtain that discovery; (3) denied Aiken's motion to amend his complaint but then dismissed his case for lack of evidence even though his amended and

supplemental complaint contained the evidence the trial court said was lacking, and (4) sanctioned Aiken \$53,755.45 for wasting the court's time and harassing the non-Black defendants by filing suit. CP 1369-90, 1407-21.

Morgan Aiken, a Black man, brought this underlying case against the property manager Rocio Sanchez and a neighbor, Marta Becerra, for conspiring together to wrongfully evict him. CP 1-7. Aiken alleged they attempted to carry out this conspiracy as follows: Becerra accused Aiken of having loud sexual activity in his apartment and continually complained about this to Sanchez. Sanchez, without conducting any investigation, called Aiken and told him to stop or he would be evicted. Aiken explained that it was not him. In his defense, he kept a log of noise in the building and turned it into Sanchez. CP 1-7. Becerra then called the police in an attempt to have Aiken arrested and even filed a frivolous petition for an anti-harassment protection order, which was promptly dismissed. CP 1161-63. On one occasion when the police showed up they confirmed the noise was not coming from Aiken's unit. CP 3. However, Becerra kept making complaints against Aiken, which Aiken alleged she did to ensure his eviction for something he did not do. CP 3-5. Sanchez acted on those complaints by posting a 10-day notice to comply or vacate even though, according to Aiken, Sanchez knew he was not the source of the noise. CP 1-7. Because of Sanchez's and Becerra's conspiracy, Aiken experienced extreme emotional distress and lived in fear of being evicted. CP 1-7.

In an attempt to prove the conspiracy, Aiken sent Sanchez interrogatories asking questions specifically about the complaints, who made them and when, whether sexual activity was against the rules at the complex, how easy it was to hear through the walls, and the extent of Sanchez's conversations with the complainant (Becerra), and Sanchez's evidence of Aiken having sexual activity at all. CP 1079, 1091-1100. However, Sanchez refused to answer these questions misguidedly claiming

the protection of the Fifth Amendment. CP 1101. Aiken moved to compel Sanchez's discovery answers and stay the hearing on Sanchez's and Becerra's motions to dismiss until he was able to obtain the missing discovery in order to prove his case. CP 979-93, 1078-1105. The trial court denied both motions but dismissed his case for lack of evidence of any conspiracy. CP 1369-75.

Aiken also brought a claim for breach of the covenant of quiet use and enjoyment because, due to both Sanchez's and Becerra's conduct, Aiken was unable to use the property in the way it was intended to be used. CP 1-7. For example, Aiken's lease gave him exclusive possession of parking space number 9 along with authority to tow any vehicle parked in that spot that he did not approve. CP 1012, 1021, 1029. After Sanchez and Becerra began persecuting Aiken, Becerra parked in his parking space, so he had it towed. It turns out, Sanchez had given his parking space to Becerra without his knowledge. CP 852.

However, Aiken still had authority to tow under his lease. CP 1012, 1021, 1029.

Later Aiken moved to amend his complaint to add Retaliation and Breach of Contract, and to add Sanchez's employer as a party. CP 852-906, 1071, 1074-75. The court denied Aiken's motion to amend his complaint because, according to the trial court, the amended complaint would be futile. CP 1369-72. However, the trial court dismissed Aiken's initial complaint for lack of evidence that was provided in the amended complaint.

Then after handicapping Aiken from being able to prosecute his claim, the trial court found Aiken's claims were frivolous and that he brought them solely to harass these non-Black individuals. CP 1387. Even though the Defendants were supposed to be on trial for harassing Aiken and conspiring to wrongfully expel him from the property, the trial court relied on Becerra's racial stereotypes of Black men to conclude that Aiken

was acting in bad faith and sanctioned him in the amount of \$53,755.45. CP 1379-90, 1407-21.

In Aiken's opening brief, he discussed for several pages how Defense Counsel for Becerra characterized Aiken as harassing, vexatious, abusive, intimidating, trying to silence Becerra, retaliatory, trying to get revenge, lying to or misleading the tow company, targeting Becerra, watching violent images on his television, and invasive for sending interrogatories about the subject matter of the case, while describing Becerra as "extremely fearful for her safety and the safety of her child", intimidated, and suffering from a medical event after receiving discovery questions. CP 907-09. And how those words evoked harmful stereotypes of Black men being violent and criminals. AOB at 45 (citing Transforming Perception: Black Men and Boys Executive Summary, Perception.org at p. 9 available at https://equity.ucla.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2016/11/Transformin g-Perception.pdf (last visited 3/31/23).

Aiken then gave examples such as in Becerra's motion to dismiss and her declaration where she testified that her mechanic found a whole in her radiator so she made the wild leap that it must have been her Black neighbor because he is suing her and had her car towed from a parking spot of which he pays rent to have exclusive possession. Becerra made similar claims in an anti-harassment protection order – that she was afraid Aiken would cut her breaks to her car – which was promptly dismissed. CP 1161-63. AOB at 45.

Aiken also discussed how Defense Counsel's juxtaposition of Aiken as a violent, harassing, abusive, and vexatious compared to Becerra as a fearful, intimidated mom who fears for her and her child's safety, who had a panic attack after receiving interrogatories about issues related to the case, distorted the roles of plaintiff and defendant, casting Becerra — the person responsible for injuring Aiken — in the role of victim to whom the court owed more sympathy than the actual injured

party. AOB at 45-46. He argued that this kind of language is an example of the "dog whistle" the Supreme Court referred to when it acknowledged that not all racial bias is blatant. AOB at 46. Finally, Aiken argued that the trial court demonstrated that it was influenced by this coded language invoking racial stereotypes when it stated in its order that Aiken's lawsuit was "harassment in search of a legal theory," and that he "knowingly and deliberately proceeded with no reasonable basis" even though Aiken has demonstrated in this appeal that he did have a legal basis. CP 1387-88.

Despite this extensive argument about how the trial court's decision to dismiss was influenced by racial bias and Aiken's overall argument that the totality of the circumstances demonstrated this influence, the Court of Appeals stated in its decision that "Aiken provides no argument as to how the court's discovery order establishes a prima facie showing of racial bias affecting a verdict as *Henderson* requires." *Aiken v. Sanchez*, No.

841115-7-I, Slip Opinion (May 28, 2024) (hereinafter "Opinion") at 8 fn. 6 (citing *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 435, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022), cert. denied, 143 S. Ct. 2412, 216 L. Ed. 2d 1276 (2023)). The Court of Appeals further stated, "lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration." *Palmer v. Jensen*, 81 Wn. App. 148, 153, 913 P.2d 413 (1996). (Opinion at 8 fn. 6). It is not clear whether the Court of Appeals misunderstood Aiken's argument or if the opinion simply ignored Aiken's arguments.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals stated, "the determination of whether racial bias warrants a new trial must be raised in the trial court,[] and Aiken did not assert racial bias below as a basis for relief. We thus decline to review this claimed error under RAP 2.5(a)." Opinion at 22.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's award of statutory damages under RCW 4.24.510, Anti-SLAPP. Opinion at 23. However, it affirmed the award of sanctions under RCW

4.84.185 because the "trial court properly concluded Aiken had not alleged facts that stated any claim as a matter of law..." Opinion at 17. Finally, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's award of sanctions under CR 11 because "Aiken proceeded with all of the claims in his complaint despite conferring with opposing counsel more than once and being warned that he faced motions to dismiss and for sanctions," Aiken's withdrawal of one of his claims "does not expunge the violation," and "Aiken did not support his argument for a good faith extension of the law with any legal authority." Opinion at 18.

Despite Aiken's evidence that Becerra targeted him, then conspired with Sanchez to fabricate allegations against him for the purpose of unlawfully evicting him, the Court of Appeals found that Aiken's civil conspiracy claim was frivolous because "a tenant such as Becerra reporting noise violations to an apartment manager such as Sanchez *is* consistent with a lawful

purpose and is *not* consistent only with the existence of a conspiracy..." Opinion at 11-12 (emphasis in original). Despite Aiken's arguments that Sanchez interfered with his quiet and peaceable use and enjoyment of his rental unit by either conspiring with other tenants of the complex to raise false allegations that he was engaging in loud sexual activity or failing to conduct an investigation before choosing to proceed with a pre-litigation eviction notice to Aiken even after Aiken sent proof that it was not him (AOB at 32-33 citing CP 1, 4, 16), the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Aiken's breach of the implied covenant of quiet use and enjoyment because "warning a tenant that he must comply with noise restrictions in his lease does not breach any duty owed by a landlord." Opinion at 13.

This was the Court of Appeals' basis for finding the suit was frivolous and deserving of sanctions under both CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185.

Aiken timely petitions for review.

## V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> ACCEPTED

A. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' erroneous decision requiring that a litigant who suspects racial bias affected the outcome of discovery, and ultimately dispositive, motions must first request a new trial raises a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States.

The Court of Appeals erred when it declined to review Aiken's claimed error of racial bias because he "did not assert racial bias below as a basis for relief." Opinion at 22 (citing *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 435). RAP 2.5(a) delineates three exceptions that allow an appeal as a matter of right when the issue was not raised below. *State v. Blazina*, 344 P.3d 680, 182 Wn.2d 827, 833 (2015). One of those exceptions is when there is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a).

For a claim of error to qualify as a claim of manifest error affecting a constitutional right, the defendant must identify the constitutional error and show that it actually affected his rights at trial. The defendant must make a plausible showing that the error resulted in actual prejudice, which means that the claimed error had practical and identifiable consequences at the proceeding. *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 583, 327 P.3d 46 (2014).

Henderson, 200 Wn.2d at 435 did not modify this rule, nor did this Court hold that a litigant who experiences racial bias in the trial court must first bring a motion for a new trial or some other similar motion before it can raise the issue on appeal.

Here, whether racial bias affected the outcome of the proceeding is a constitutional issue. "Criminal defendants have a due process right to a fair trial by an impartial judge." *In re Pers. Restraint of Swenson*, 158 Wn. App. 812, 818, 244 P.3d 959 (2010; U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV). Recently, this Court reiterated that the right to a fair and impartial trial also applies to

civil litigants. *Henderson*, 518 P.3d at 1021.

A judgment entered in violation of due process is void. State ex rel. Adams v. Superior Court, Pierce County, 36 Wn.2d 868, 872, 220 P.2d 1081 (1950). Courts have a nondiscretionary duty to vacate a void judgment. Castellon v. Rodriguez, 4 Wn. App. 2d 8, 14, 418 P.3d 804 (2018).

Under the appearance of fairness doctrine, a judicial proceeding is valid only if a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would conclude that the parties received a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing. *Matter of Dependency of A.E.T.H.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 502, 517, 446 P.3d 667 (2019) (citing *State v. Solis-Diaz*, 187 Wn.2d 535, 540, 387 P.3d 703 (2017)). Under this doctrine, a judge must be impartial both in fact and in appearance. *A.E.T.H.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 517 (citing *Solis-Diaz*, 187 Wn.2d at 540).

"The party asserting a violation of the appearance of fairness must show a judge's actual or potential bias." A.E.T.H.,

9 Wn. App. 2d at 517 (citing *Solis-Diaz*, 187 Wn.2d at 540). "The test for determining whether the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned is an objective test that assumes a reasonable observer knows and understands all the relevant facts." *A.E.T.H.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 517 (citing *Solis-Diaz*, 187 Wn.2d at 540).

Thus, when determining if racial bias affected the outcome of a proceeding this Court should determine whether "an objective observer who is aware that *implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination*, have influenced jury verdict in Washington State *could* view race as a factor in the [outcome]." *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 422 (citing *State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 665, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019)).

Becerra's Counsel's invocation of racial stereotypes permeated Becerra's motion to dismiss. For example, Defense Counsel for Becerra characterized Aiken as harassing, vexatious,

abusive, intimidating, trying to silence Becerra, retaliatory, trying to get revenge, lying to or misleading the tow company, targeting Becerra, watching violent images on his television, and invasive for sending interrogatories about the subject matter of the case, while describing Becerra as "extremely fearful for her safety and the safety of her child", intimidated, and suffering from a medical event after receiving discovery questions. CP 907-09. These words evoked harmful stereotypes of Black men being violent and criminals. AOB at 45 (citing Transforming Perception: Black Men and Boys Executive Summary, Perception.org at p. 9 available at https://equity.ucla.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2016/11/Transformin g-Perception.pdf (last visited 3/31/23).

Another example is Becerra's declaration testimony that that her mechanic found a whole in her radiator so she made the wild leap that it must have been her Black neighbor because he is suing her and had her car towed from a parking spot of which he pays rent to have exclusive possession. Becerra made similar claims in an anti-harassment protection order – that she was afraid Aiken would cut her breaks to her car – which was promptly dismissed. CP 1161-63.

Defense Counsel's juxtaposition of Aiken as a violent, harassing, abusive, and vexatious compared to Becerra as a fearful, intimidated mom who fears for her and her child's safety, who had a panic attack after receiving interrogatories about issues related to the case, distorted the roles of plaintiff and defendant, casting Becerra – the person responsible for injuring Aiken – in the role of victim to whom the court owed more sympathy than the actual injured party. AOB at 45-46. This kind of language is an example of the "dog whistle" the Supreme Court referred to when it acknowledged that not all racial bias is blatant. *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d 433 (citing *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 678, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)).

The trial court demonstrated that it was influenced by this

coded language invoking racial stereotypes when it stated in its order that Aiken's lawsuit was "harassment in search of a legal theory," and that he "knowingly and deliberately proceeded with no reasonable basis" even though Aiken demonstrated in this appeal that he did have a legal basis. CP 1387-88. Aiken was actually prejudiced because he was sanctioned \$53,755.45 for simply seeking judicial redress to stop the harassment he was enduring, after he was deprived of any means to prosecute his case. CP 1369-90, 1407-21.

Aiken's claim of error that racial bias influenced the outcome of the proceeding fell under the exception set forth in RAP 2.5(a)(3) for which he was entitled to review as a matter of right.

Further, when the facts and circumstances are viewed in in totality it shows that "an objective observer who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdict in

Washington State *could* view race as a factor in the [outcome]." *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 422 (citing *State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 665, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019)).

The Court does not have to state that race was a factor. It is enough that the Court allowed such blatant invocations of stereotypes. An objective observer could find the Court was influenced by this biased and stereotypical language because the Court echoed Becerra's sentiment that it was Aiken who was violent, vexatious, and harassing even though the facts show that it was Becerra who was harassing Aiken by conspiring with Sanchez to have him unlawfully evicted, calling the police on him, and constantly complaining about him. One of the most blatant examples is Becerra's testimony that Aiken was trying to intimidate her by watching television in his own home because when she walked by and peeped into his windows, she could see that he was watching violent images. CP 931.

This Court should accept review to correct the Court of

Appeals' erroneous ruling that a litigant who experiences racial bias by the attorneys or the judge in a dispositive motion hearing must first raise the issue to the trial court before he or she can appeal because whether racial bias affected the outcome of the case is an issue of constitutional magnitude that can be reviewed for the first time on appeal as a matter of right under RAP 2.5(a)(3).

B. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4) because the Court of Appeals' erroneous decision finding Aiken's lawsuit was frivolous and affirming sanctions under CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185 involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court and it raises a significant question of law under the Constitution of the United States.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the sanctions under CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185 for two reasons: One, it misunderstands landlord tenant law; Two, the trial court's award of sanctions was influenced by racial bias.

Under RCW 4.84.185, a party prevailing on a dispositive motion may move for expenses and attorney fees incurred in opposing the matter if the court enters written findings, after considering "all evidence presented at the time of the motion," that the claim or defense opposed "was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause." However, such sanctions "may not be imposed pursuant to RCW 4.84.185 unless the entire case is deemed frivolous." Kilduff v. San Juan County, 194 Wn.2d 859, 874, 453 P.3d 719 (2019).

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