FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/29/2024 2:30 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1032072

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### MORGAN AIKEN III, Appellant

v.

ROCIO SANCHEZ and MARTA BECERIA, Respondents.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING

The Honorable Judge Ruhl

# RESPONDENT ROCIO SANCHEZ'S OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS MAY 28, 2024 DECISION IN 84115-7-1

NEWMAN LLP Keith Scully, WSBA No. 28677 *keith@newmanlaw.com* 1201 Second Avenue, Suite 900 Seattle, WA 98101

Attorney for Respondent Rocio Sanchez

# **

A.	Statement of the Facts		
	B.	Procedural History		
III.	Reasons the Court Should Deny Review			
	A.	The issues proposed by Petitioner are well-settled 8		
	B.	Breach of contract and RLTA law is well-settled and there is no issue requiring the Court's intervention		
	C.	Alleged racial bias must be raised to the trial court 9		
	D.	Even if the racial bias issue had been preserved, there is no basis to remand		
	E.	The trial court ruled and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed that Petitioner's claims were frivolous and that Petitioner failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted		
IV.	. Conclusion			

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

Cherberg v. National Peoples Bank of Washington, 15 Wn. App. 336 (1976)
Corbit v. J.I. Case Co., 70 Wn.2d 522 (1967) 14, 15
Couie v. United Bhd. of Carpenters & Joiners, 51 Wn.2d 108 (1957)
Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wn.2d 417 (2022) passim
<i>In re Dependency of Aa.D.Y.</i> , Wash.App. LEXIS 1027 (2023)11, 12
<i>In re Dependency of N.M.L.H.</i> , Wash.App. LEXIS 1266 (2024)
Statutes
RCW 4.84.1851, 4, 14
RCW 59.12.030
RCW 59.12.030(4) 12, 13
RCW 59.18.650
Rules
CR 11

RAP	13.4(b)		15,21	
-----	---------	--	-------	--

### I. INTRODUCTION

Defendant/Respondent Rocio Sanchez was the manager of an apartment complex where both Plaintiff/Petitioner Morgan Aiken III and co-Defendant Marta Beceria<sup>1</sup> lived. Beceria complained of noise coming from Aiken's apartment specifically, that she could hear him having sex and it was disturbing to her and her young child. Sanchez asked Aiken to quiet down and gave him two noise warnings. Later, Beceria called the police for noises coming from Aiken's apartment.

These complaints infuriated Aiken and he began a campaign of frivolous litigation. After one lawsuit against the apartment complex was dismissed without prejudice, he filed no less than sixteen separate complaints and proposed amendments attempting to find a legal theory wherein he could sue the apartment building manager and his neighbor for being warned about noise. The Honorable John Ruhl dismissed Aiken's second lawsuit with prejudice, finding Aiken's pro se filings rambling, confusing, and lacking a cognizable legal theory. Judge Ruhl also granted Sanchez's request for attorney's fees and sanctions under CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185.

The Court of Appeals of Washington affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Petitioner's civil conspiracy and breach of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Beceria was represented by separate counsel at the trial level and is pro se now.

the covenant of quiet use and enjoyment claims and CR 11 sanctions, engaging in a *de novo* review of the trial court's grant of summary judgment. The court also declined review of Petitioner's unfair trial claim for failure to bring a timely motion for a new trial at the Superior Court.<sup>2</sup>

In his petition to this Court, Petitioner continues to fail to advance any legal theory upon which relief can be granted. None of Petitioner's proposed questions involve any significant question of law or issue of substantial public interest. The Court should decline review.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Statement of the Facts.

Petitioner Aiken was a tenant at Sky Garden Park Villa Apartments where Respondent Rocio Sanchez was the property manager and Respondent Marta Beceria was his neighbor. CP 1. Aiken received two noise warnings from Sanchez in December 2020 and January 2021 after Sanchez received complaints from Beceria. CP 14–15. Aiken vehemently denied that the noises were caused by him and blamed his other neighbors for making noise. Aiken then began sending Sanchez daily noise complaints about everyday noises he heard from his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals reversed only the trial court's award of anti-SLAPP sanctions against Aiken and awarded to Beceria. Sanchez did not seek anti-SLAPP sanctions.

neighbors, such as snoring, toilets flushing, washing dishes, and random conversations. Sanchez thanked him for his emails but requested that Aiken only report noises that disturbed the peace or constituted a nuisance under the terms of his lease.

Aiken was never fined, evicted, or otherwise penalized for any of the noise complaints or for any other reason. When Aiken's lease expired on October 31, 2020, the lease was not renewed and Aiken began to be charged for a month-to-month tenancy, in accordance with the terms of his expired lease.

### **B.** Procedural History

Petitioner filed this action against Sanchez and Beceria in King County Superior Court on July 12, 2021. CP 1. This was the second lawsuit brought by Aiken alleging identical facts. CP 501–509. The first lawsuit was brought on February 17, 2021 against Sanchez and Sky Garden Park Villa Apartments for criminal solicitation, criminal conspiracy, criminal harassment and threats, and breach of contract. *Id.* The Honorable Michael Scott dismissed Aiken's first lawsuit without prejudice. CP 670.

In the instant lawsuit, Aiken's sole relief was initially requests that the nuisance notices be removed from the apartment building's record, that the alleged harassment and threats cease, and that his costs in preparing the complaint be

reimbursed. CP 1–7. Aiken identified no monetary loss or other damage. In a later filing Aiken sought \$100 million in punitive damages for civil conspiracy (CP 1068–1077), which was then amended to a request for \$1 billion in punitive damages "to deter such acts as committed by the Defendants." CP 1246.

The docket and Clerk's Papers accurately depict Aiken's misuse of the judicial system and history of frivolous filings. (*See generally* Index.) In less than one year, the docket for the underlying trial court action has 202 entries, nearly all filed by Aiken and nearly all before defendants had a chance to file their motion to dismiss. Aiken filed over 16 documents with the court for his pleadings alone. Aiken filed one complaint, two amended complaints, six motions to amend the complaint, one motion to supplement the complaint, one motion to correct exhibit numbers, and five motions to strike his own complaint.

Aiken was on notice as early as March 11, 2021 when Sanchez filed her motion to dismiss Aiken's first lawsuit that his pleadings were not grounded in law. CP 522–29. Many of the legal arguments that were advanced in Sanchez's motion to dismiss the second lawsuit were the same as the ones advanced in her motion to dismiss the first lawsuit, including Aiken's inability to prosecute crimes as a private citizen, Aiken's failure to request the proscribed remedies under the RLTA, and Aiken's failure to identify any loss or damage. *Id*.

Aiken also had other chances to dismiss this second action when Sanchez's counsel reached out to Aiken. On one occasion Sanchez's counsel sent a draft of the unfiled motion to dismiss and offered Aiken an opportunity to dismiss the action in exchange for Sanchez not filing the motion and request for fees. CP 537–546. Aiken did not dismiss the matter. On another occasion, Sanchez's counsel reviewed Aiken's proposed motion to amend his pleading and warned him that his lawsuit was frivolous and that the proposed amendments would not fix the issues with his pleadings. CP 547–549. Aiken was again warned that he would likely be liable for attorney fees and that continuing with court filings that create more work for Sanchez and her counsel would continue to raise those costs. *Id*.

Aiken sent discovery to Sanchez which contained numerous inappropriate and irrelevant requests. Aiken asked Ms. Sanchez "[d]o you engage in sexual activity in your apartment," "[h]ave you noticed any newborn babies in the apartment complex? If so, do you think they were conceived in one of the units at the complex," and "[h]ave you seen Plaintiff with someone that can be construed as a sexual partner?" CP 1091–1095.

On April 7, 2022, Judge Ruhl held a hearing on the two motions to dismiss filed by each Respondent. Judge Ruhl found that Aiken's filings did not state any cognizable claim for a

viable remedy. CP 1379–90. Because there was no contract between Aiken and either Sanchez or Beceria, there could be no breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment. And because Aiken is a private citizen, not a sovereign, he could not prosecute crimes against the Respondents. Judge Ruhl found that Aiken persisted in his lawsuit without any reasonable basis, brought the claims in bad faith to harass the Respondents, and abused judicial resources. He also denied Aiken's discovery motions as moot.

Aiken appealed the court's dismissal of his claims of civil conspiracy and breach of the implied covenant of quiet use and enjoyment to the Court of Appeals of Washington, which reviewed the Superior Court's order granting summary judgment *de novo*. Court of Appeals Opinion ("Opinion") at 9. For the first time on appeal, he also argued that the Superior Court violated his right to a fair trial because, he alleged, the judge's sanctions and damages decisions were "tainted by racial bias." *Id.* at 22. Petitioner raised this issue for the first time on appeal and presented no evidence, instead speculating that because Beceria's attorney characterized Aiken as " harassing, vexatious, abusive, intimidating, trying to silence Becerra (sic), retaliatory, trying to get revenge, lying to or misleading the tow company, targeting Becerra, watching violent images on his television, and invasive for sending interrogatories about the

subject matter of the case, while describing Becerra as 'extremely fearful for her safety and the safety of her child'" those words must be imputed to the Superior Court judge who heard the case because he used the words "harassment in search of a legal theory" to describe Aiken's meritless lawsuit. (Petition at 8-9.)

As to the civil conspiracy claim, the Court of Appeals found no error because Aiken failed to allege circumstances that were inconsistent with a lawful purpose and consistent *only* with the existence of a conspiracy. *Id.* at 11–12. The Court of Appeals also found no error in the Superior Court's dismissal of Aiken's breach of the covenant of quiet use and enjoyment claim because a landlord does not breach any duty by "[w]arning a tenant that he must comply with noise restrictions in his lease," and therefore Aiken did not meet the standard for a breach of the covenant of quiet use and enjoyment under *Cherberg v. National Peoples Bank of Washington*, 15 Wn. App. 336 (1976). *Id.* at 12–13. The Court also noted that Aiken was never evicted, fined, or otherwise punished for the noise complaints. *Id.* at 12.

The Court of Appeals then declined to review the fair trial issue because, under *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 435 (2022), "the determination of whether racial bias warrants a

new trial must be raised in the trial court, and Aiken did not assert racial bias below as a basis for relief." *Id.* at 22 and n. 13.

### **III. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW**

#### A. The issues proposed by Petitioner are well-settled.

RAP 13.4(b) provides that "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

# **B.** Breach of contract and RLTA law is well-settled and there is no issue requiring the Court's intervention.

Washington law regarding claims for civil conspiracy and breach of the implied covenant of quiet use and enjoyment is well-settled and easily resolves Petitioner's challenge of the trial court order dismissing his claims in Respondents' favor. Petitioner does not argue otherwise: although he mistakenly claims both the trial court, and the Court of Appeals in its de novo review were wrong, he identifies no inconsistencies between Courts of Appeal, unresolved issues of law, or matters of public import in either contract or RLTA law. Those claims can be disposed of on this basis alone.

#### C. Alleged racial bias must be raised to the trial court.

Petitioner argues that the Court should consider whether a party must raise an allegation that a result was racially biased to the trial court. But this too is well-settled. CR 59(a)(1) and (9)provide that a motion for a new trial or reconsideration "may be granted for ... [i]rregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or adverse party, or any order of the court, or abuse of discretion, by which such party was prevented from having a fair trial . . . [or where] substantial justice has not been done." However, CR 59(b) states, such a motion "shall be filed not later than 10 days after the entry of the judgment, order, or other decision . . ." (emphasis added). Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wn.2d 417, 422, 518 P.3d 1011, 1017 (2022), the Washington Supreme Court case upon which Petitioner relies, confirms this requirement: in that case, the plaintiff moved at the trial court level for a new trial on the ground that appeals to racial bias affected the jury verdict. In reversing the trial court's denial of the motion, the Court held that "[a] trial court must hold a hearing on a new trial motion when the proponent makes a prima facie case showing that an objective observer (who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in

addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdicts in Washington State) could view race as a factor in the verdict."

The Court of Appeals applied this settled principle in the very recent case of *In re Dependency of N.M.L.H.*, 2024 Wash.App. LEXIS 1266, \*28–30 (June 24, 2024) and declined to consider a fair trial claim based on alleged racial bias because the petitioner neither raised the issue below nor sought a new trial on that basis.

There is a solid reason this motion must be made to the trial court. Without it, there is no opportunity for a record to be made regarding the bias allegations. This case is a stellar example of why that is so important. Appellate counsel, who was not present for the trial, plucked a couple of random facts from the record—words like "vexatious" used by Beceria's attorney and that Beceria noted that the violent television Aiken watched and she could hear disturbed her--and from those isolated facts claims a whole new hearing must be held because Judge Ruhl was influenced by them. No party had a chance to explore and develop those facts, or ask for findings from Judge Ruhl regarding whether he interpreted terms like "vexatious" and "abusive" as racially-charged or if he relied on those terms at all in his ruling. Judge Ruhl retired from the Superior Court

bench shortly after the hearing, and even if the Court were to remand for fact-finding none could be held.

# **D.** Even if the racial bias issue had been preserved, there is no basis to remand.

Petitioner was required to present evidence that "an objective observer (who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdicts in Washington State) could view race as a factor." *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 422–23. For example, in *In re Dependency of Aa.D.Y.*, 2023 Wash.App. LEXIS 1027 at \*33–34 (Wash. App. May 30, 2023), the Court of Appeals found that the terms "thwarted" and "refusal" used by the trial court to describe "I.A.'s" nonengagement with services offered by the Department of Children, Youth, and Families, in context, was not a signal of bias, but an "assessment of I.A.'s behaviors relevant to her ability to parent the children," and so I.A. did not make a prima facie case of racial bias affecting the trial court's decision.

Petitioner has failed to make a prima facie case of racial bias. He argues that "[t]he trial court demonstrated that it was influenced by this coded language invoking racial stereotypes when it stated in its order that Aiken's lawsuit was 'harassment in search of a legal theory,' and that he 'knowingly and deliberately proceeded with no reasonable basis' even though

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